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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

AndreaCASSELL,and
Rafik BOUGHADOU,

V.

)
)
)
Plaintiffs, ) Casélo. 12-cv-9786
)
) Judge Robert M. Dow, Jr.
)

Janet NAPOLITANO, Secretary of Homeland )
Security; Alejandro MAYORKAS, Director, )
U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services )
("USCIS™); Lori PIETROFAOLI, District )
Director, USCIS Chicago District; and Eric H. )
Holder, Jr., Attorney Gendraf the United States, )

)
)
Defendants. )

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Plaintiffs Andrea Cassell and RafikoBghadou married on August 18, 2004. About six
weeks later, Cassell filed a o I-130, Petition for Alien Retave, on behalf of Boughadou, a
citizen and national of Algeria, with the Unit&tates Citizenship and Immigration Services
(“USCIS”). USCIS denied Cassell's petiti on May 2, 2011, and the Board of Immigration
Appeals (“BIA”), after ade novoreview, affirmed USCIS’s desion and dismissed the appeal on
November 2, 2012. On December 7, 2012, Plaintiffs commenced this lawsuit, challenging the
denial of Cassell's petition by the BIA and USCIS and seeking injunctive and declaratory relief
under the Administrative Procedures Act, 5 U.S.C. 8§ 702-706.

Before the Court are Defendants’ motion for summary judgméfit 4hd Plaintiffs’
cross-motion for summary judgment [22]. Pldistiargue that the desibns of the BIA and
USCIS were arbitrary and capricious, in violation of 5 U.S.C. § 706, and therefore should be

vacated and reversed. Defendants argue thieatchallenged decisions should be upheld as

Dockets.Justia.com


http://dockets.justia.com/docket/illinois/ilndce/1:2012cv09786/277452/
http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/illinois/ilndce/1:2012cv09786/277452/31/
http://dockets.justia.com/

reasonable and supported ljpstantial evidenceFor the reasons statbdlow, the Court grants
Defendants’ motion for summary judgment [1AHadenies Plaintiffs’ cross-motion for summary
judgment [22].
l. Background

Andrea Cassell and Rafik Boughadou met waitmgine at a McDonald’s in downtown
Chicago in June 2004. ROP 192fter talking for two hours, tey exchanged phone numbers
and got married two months later on August 18, 200 civil ceremony held before a judge in
the Circuit Court ofCook County, lllinois. Id. Cassell is a United States citizen, (ROP 548),
who, at the time, lived in Berwyn, lllinois wither mother, Nora Cassell, and her first-grade
daughter. ROP 193. Boughadou is an Algerian natiand citizen, who lawfully came to the
United States as a visitor before changing his statdisat of an international business student.
ROP 192, 556-61. WheBoughadou met Cassell, he had been living in a tiny studio apartment
located at 444 West St. Janteseet, #811 Chicago, lllinois (“thet. James apartment”) that he
had been renting since Fealry 2000 for $585/month. RCE32. On June 11, 2004, Boughadou
signed a new, one-year lease with a start dbf@ctober 1, 2004 and an end date of September
30, 2005, although the end date subsequenttyam@nded to April 30, 2005. ROP 205-06, 259.

On September 30, 2004, Cassell filed a F&#b30, Petition for Alien Relative, with
USCIS, seeking to classify Boughadou as an idiate relative based on their marriage, and
Boughadou filed a Form 1-485, Application for PermanResidence or Adjust Status, based on
his marriage to Cassell. ROP 325-30. Cassell tetegba Form G325A inonjunction with the
[-130 Petition, on which she stated that she began living at the St. James apartment in August
2004. ROP 333. On December 15, 2004, CasselBandhadou were notified that they would

be interviewed regarding Cassell’s petition onriApO, 2005. ROP 35, 37. At or before their



interview, the couple submitted a number d"fcuments to USCIS in support of Cassell's

petition, including:

a lease, signed by both Cassell and Bougadowltwsgnated them as tenants of the St.
James apartment, beginning Septendh)&004 and ending April 30, 2005 (ROP 37)

statements from Cassell and Boughadouistj@CF bank account, opened on February
8, 2005, and copies of four checks from #Hezount that were signed and cashed by
Boughadou (ROP 37)

an undated life insurance “illustrationjssued by Boughadou’'s friend, Stephanie
Weidner, an American Exmss financial advisor (ROP 37)

Automobile insurance policy information the name of Boughadou, addressed to both
Cassell and Boughadou at the St. James apartment (ROP 128)

Boughadou and Cassell's “marriditied jointly” 2004 incometax return, which also
demonstrated that Boughadou’s underlying2Wisted Boughadou’s adess as the St.
James apartment, while Cassell's W-2¢elistwo separate Bewym, lllinois addresses
(ROP 37)

a receipt letter from the Social Securiydministration, demonstrating that Cassell
applied for a new social security camhted September 8, 2004, that listed Cassell's
address as Berwyn, lllinois (ROP 37, 190)

a marriage certificate, td August 18, 2004 (ROP 128)

copies of three electric bills, addresgedboth Boughadou and Cassell at the St. James
apartment, but for accounts listed onlyBoughadou’s name, dated January 5, February
9, and March 9, 2005 (ROP 128)

two phone bills addressed to baZassell and Boughadou (ROP 128

photographs of the couple and Cassell’'s dergldeveloped two days before the first
interview (ROP 190)

four greetings cards: a Christmas cardnir Stephanie Weidner to the couple, a
November 10, 2004 birthday card from Cdlss® Boughadou, an undated card from
Boughadou to Cassell that read “Andrea, $tjuwanted to say | love you,” and a
Christmas Card from Cassell to Rafitdressed “to my husband” (ROP 129)

During the first interview, Cassell stated that she did not have a home phone, which

contradicted the phone bills that she submit®@P 190. And the documents she provided that



listed her Berwyn address did not square with the lease for the St. James apartment that listed her
as a tenant.ld. Outside of the joint bank accountetimterviewer found no evidence of co-
mingled finances or shardohancial responsibility.Ild. Because the first interviewer suspected
that the couple’s marriage may not be bona fiaereferred the petitiofor further review by
USCIS. ROP 190. A subsequent invedtma uncovered additional documentation that
suggested that Cassell did meside at the St. Jamesasdpnent with Boughadou. Namely,
USCIS obtained arrest records from the Chicagbice department that listed a Berwyn, lllinois
address for Cassell when she was arresteSemtember 8, 2004. ROP 3Police records also
indicated that on January 7, 2005s€all filed a complaint againeer daughter’s father, Albert
Sanchez, which also listed a Berwyn, lllinois adr ROP 66. Cassell was arrested again on
February 11, 2005 by the Chicago Police Depantmthis time for endangering the life and
health of a child, andhe arrest records agaiisted a Berwyn, lllinois address for Cassell.
Finally, USCIS contacted the lawdtl at the St. James apartment, who informed USCIS that
Cassell was not technicalligted as a tenant difie unit because, althoughe signed the lease on
September 8, 2004, she refused the prerequisité cregtk, which invalidated the lease she had
signed. ROP 37, 118, 129. The investigation alsmvered that Boughadou purchased a condo
on South State Street (“the South State Streetio”) on April 19, 2005, the day before the first
interview. ROP 190. Based on these discegerUSCIS scheduled the couple for a second
interview. Id.

On August 6, 2009, a second USCIS officeterviewed Cassell. At the second
interview, Cassell revealed thslhe and Boughadou separatedithez late April or early May
2005, a few weeks after their first interview, dmat not lived together since. ROP 323, 331.

She also disclosed that since fiirst interview she had givdrirth to two children (in 2007 and



2009), fathered by a man named Jonathan Genzalith whom Cassell was then living. ROP
38. Finally, Cassell told USCIS that she didt move in with Boughadou for two or three
months after they were married, a statement ¢batradicted the G-325A application that she
completed on August 24, 2004, where she stattdstie began living ith Boughadou at the St.
James apartment in August 2004. ROP 38, 333.orAtrior to this iterview, Cassell also
provided the following additional documents to USCIS:

e cell phone bills addressed to “RafikoBghadou, Attn: Andrea M. Boughadou,” dated
between February 22, 2007 and January 22, 2009 (ROP 129)

e letters from Ameriprise Financial addresgsedCassell and Benefaiy, dated July 31,
2008 and March 27, 2009 (ROP 129)

e bank account statements from the joint TCF account through June 11, 2009 (ROP 128)
According to Cassell, at the conclusion of thieimiew, USCIS officer Byron Allen refused to
interview Boughadou, accused her of having a fraudulent marriage, encouraged her to withdraw
her 1-130 petition, and notified her of his inteéatdeny the petition regardless of any additional
evidence she might submit. ROP 195.

On October 19, 2009, USCIS issued a Notice of Intent to Deny Petition for Alien
Relative (“the NOID”), in which USCIS outlineits various reasons for doubting the validity of
Cassell and Bougadou’s marriage. ROP 323. relepecifically, the NOID highlighted the
invalidity of the couple’s St. James apartmemsks their failure to ge a legitimate reason for
living apart before separating,oBghadou’s home purchase priortheir first inteview, their
lack of joint assets and sharidancial responsibilities, and therth of Cassell’swo children,
whom she had with another man during her marriage to Boughadouased on the evidence
at the time, USCIS declareds ibelief that Cassell and Bghadou had entered into a sham

marriage for the purpose of evading thenigration laws of the United State&d. The NOID



afforded Cassell the opportunity to submit cowdding evidence in symrt of her petition and
opposition to the proposed denial withimrtyrdays of the letter. ROP 324.

Cassell submitted a twelve-page response to the NOID on November 17, 2009, attaching
eighteen additional pieces of evidence, requesting that her petition be assigned to a new USCIS
officer, and arguing (1) that the totality of the evidence that she submitted satisfied her burden of
demonstrating her and Boughadou'seirt to establish gint life togetherat the inception of
their marriage by a preponderance of the evidamck(2) that USCIS didot have substantial
and probative evidence thatrhmearriage to Boughadou was a sham. ROP 180, 184. Among the
documents attached to CasseBubmission were affidavitey her, her mother, Boughadou,
Boughadou’s mother, Boughadou’s father, and sevaealds, each of whom declared that, in
their opinion, Cassell and Boughadmarried out of love and ndbr the purpose of evading
immigration laws. ROP 179. In Cassell's affitaghe explained that she never moved in with
Boughadou full-time prior to their separatiorcause she had fought for a long time to get
“special services” for her daughtesuch as ADHD therapy, athdaughter’s school in Berwyn.

ROP 193. Rather than move in with Boughadou, Qlassglained, she comtued to live with
her mother and daughter in Berwyn, but was abktay with Boughadoaon the weekends when
her daughter’s father (Albert Sanchez) lbadrt-ordered supervision. ROP 193.

In addition to the affidavits, Cassell submitted an automobile insurance policy listing
both she and Boughadou as insureds, amiti lease documentation obtained from a
management agent at the St. James apartiouéiding, a settlement s&nent listing April 29,

2005 as the closing date for Boughadou's Sdbithite Street condo, daments relating to
Cassell's daughter’s learning disability frod®08 (including that she made “slow academic

progress since first grade”), and documentsceoming Cassell's petitn for an emergency



protective order against Albert Sanchez in 2@Mhd her criminal complaint against him in
January 2005. ROP 178-180. The submission ribtdCassell was “ue to comment on the

. . . allegation that [she] was not allowed to sige first lease due to an alleged credit check,
since [she] ha[d] no information about this.” ROP 179.

On July 19, 2010, USCIS issued an Amendetlddmf Intent to Deny Petition for Alien
Relative (“the amended NOID”), in considedatiof Cassell’'s submission. The amended NOID
noted that some of the newlylsmitted documents “tend to overne some of the flaws in the
evidence cited by the earlier NOID.” ROP 132pecifically, Cassell submitted an automobile
insurance policy that demonstrated that she added as an insured in late December 2004.
ROP 132. (The previous policy she had submitted listed only Boughadou as an insured.) ROP
132. Additionally, Cassell’'s submission demiated that she anBoughadou had purchased
life insurance a few days before their firaterview with USCIS. ROP 132. (Previously,
Cassell only had submitted a lifesurance “illustration,” thateflected a menu of potential
premiums and payouts that the couple comlnichase.) The amended NOID noted that the
affidavits provided with Cassell's submission “constitute positive, but not overwhelming,
corroborative evidence faohe bona fides of [her] marriage.” ROP 133. In the end, however, the
amended NOID reflected USCIS’s conclusitirat Cassell’s response to the NOID was not
enough to overcome the “significant inconsistenmethe record which affect the credibility of
the statements and evidence [she had] ptedén ROP 127. The amended NOID noted that
Cassell “presented some positiseidence for the bona fide natupé [her] marriage,” but that
she had still “not met her burden of pnogithe bona fides by the preponderance of the

evidence.” ROP 133. Again, USCIS invited Césge submit new evidnce and a written



response within thirty days. ROP 134. US@ISo approved Cassell's request to have her case
re-assigned to a new officer. ROP 126.

On August 18, 2010, Cassell responded toathended NOID with another twelve-page
submission and three more affidavits (froms€&ll, her mother, and Boughadou), again arguing
that she had met her burden edtablishing a bona fide mege by a preonderance of the
evidence, and attempting to clarify some of USCIS’s “basic misstatalings” of the evidence.
ROP 113. Cassell explained, as she did in hevipus affidavit, that she and Boughadou had
been in a fight just prior to their firdSCIS interview on April 20, 2005, which she hoped
would explain their unfavorable “demeanor” at thaerview. ROP 116.She further explained
that her daughter’s learningsdbility prevented her from oning in with Boughadou full-time,
and that fear of Cassell’'s é&oyfriend Albert Sanchez was anpediment to Boughadou moving
to Berwyn. ROP 116. Additioflg, Cassell explained that the joint TCF Bank account that she
and Boughadou opened in February 2005 (six moaities their civil mariage and two months
after they received notice of thehpril 2005 interview) was due ttheir previous inability to
open a joint checking account at other badlie to her poor créd ROP 117. Boughadou
explained in his affidavit that it wasn’'t unta friend told [him] that TCF Bank would open an
account without regard to someone’s poor bankirggory” were they die to locate a bank
where they could co-mingle their finances. RRMO8. Cassell argued that she never intended to
deceive USCIS by providing an “invalid” leasde signed a lease on September 8, 2004 with a
representative from the St. James apartmentihgilcthanagement, and the fact that the leasing
agent may not have been able to obtain a cregddrt does not render thease fraudulent. ROP
118. She maintains that, regardle$she document’s validity, it evaes her intent to reside at

the St. James apartment with Boughadd. Finally, in their affidavits, both Boughadou and



Cassell state that they nevmtended to deceive USCIS at their April 20, 2005 interview
regarding Boughadou’s purchase of the Sou#teS$treet condo. ROP 198. Boughadou said
that he remained silent on tiesue only because the USCIS offi did not inquire about it.
ROP 198. And Cassell was not even awamd Boughadou had purchased it at the time;
according to Boughadou, he did not tell Casdstité it because their relationship had gone sour
at that point and he “had aatg feeling that [theirelationship] would not [improve].” ROP
138.

On May 2, 2011, USCIS issued its DecisionRatition for Alien Relative. In its eight-
page decision, USCIS detailéd reasons for concluding th@assell had not met her burden of
proving that she and Boughadou intended to éslala life together athe time they were
married by a preponderance of the eviden&OP 64. USCIS noted that, although Cassell
claimed to reside at the St. James apartméhtBoughadou, “[sJome of the documentation [that
she provided in support of thaeaim] was weak or incorreetvidence.” RORS5. Specifically,
USCIS highlighted the copy of the St. James tapamt lease that Cassell originally provided to
USCIS, which (upon further investton) turned out to be inlid because Cassell had refused
the prerequisite credit checROP 65. USCIS noted that the vdkgse for the period in which
Cassell and Boughadou were married and notgetmted listed only Boughadou as a tenant,
which (as USCIS noted) is more consistent with Cassell’s representation in her affidavit that she
only spent the weekends or (at best) part of the week at Boughadou’'s apartment. ROP 65.
USCIS further noted that the electric and phbitis that Cassell submitted, though addressed to
both Cassell and Boughadou, listed only Boughadoth@sccount holder. ROP 65. USCIS
also observed that their joint bank account aaly opened two monthsipr to their separation

and consisted of a low balancedarery little activity — the few dacks that were cashed on the



account were signed only by Boughadou. ROP @ USCIS, this evidence fell short of
establishing that the couple skdrjoint financial responsibiles and co-mingled financial
resources. ROP 68.

With specific regard to the invalid lease, ©IS noted that “a signddase means . . . that
the parties signing the lease live at the lacatin question and are jointly responsible for
payment of the rent. The leasesweever ‘valid’ in the sense thiis shared responsibility never
existed during the period for which the lease w@sed and was ostensibly responsible. . . .
Thus, it was presented as evidence of a commiggif financial resourceshich did not exist.”
ROP 68. USCIS went on to say: “it is appropriate to question whether the lease is genuine proof
of intent to cohabit at the locah, or whether this element of mnital union also did not exist.
The fact that a misleading document has beerepted as evidence naturally raises the question
of whether the rest of the evidence presented égéme parties might not also be misleading.”
ROP 68.

USCIS also concluded that the evidence faitedstablish that the couple shared a joint
residence, another factor typicalbpnsidered in deteliming a couple’s intent at the time they
were married. Besides the lmically-invalid lease and Cassslladmission that she did not
permanently reside with Boughadou at the Stmekapartment, three different police records
obtained from the time period before the coupfmsated demonstrate thaassell was using her
mother's Berwyn addresses (her mother apmpdy moved withinBerwyn during that time
period) as her home address. ROP 66. In Cassdfidavit, she maintained that her daughter
needed to remain in Berwyn — preventing the cedgdm living together full-time — to continue
receiving “special services” aer school there. ROP 65. Howee, the only documentation that

Cassell provided in support of this contentiwas an “Individualized Education Plan” from the

10



Chicago Public School that Cassell’s daughtégnded as of July 21, 2008. ROP 65. Although
this documentation reflected tHact that her daughter was redeg some type of special
services at her school in @aAgo in 2008, the document merely stated that her daughter had
made “slow academic progress since first gragvhich USCIS found insufficient to support
Cassell’'s claim that her daughter was receiwagrices during 2004-2005 (the year she was in
first grade) such that they could not mamevith Boughadou in Chicago. ROP 66-67. USCIS
also found Cassell's explanation for why Boughadould not move to Berwyn (fear of Albert
Sanchez) to be an implausible reason that a etacouple, in love witleach other, would reside
in different cities. ROP 66, 68.

From the fact that Boughadou had purchagmdat least taken bgtantial steps to
purchase) the South State Stre@tdo by April 19, 2005 and the fabiat he didhot tell Cassell
about this purchase prior tlve couple’s first USCIS terview on April 20, 2005, USCIS
concluded that the couple likelglecided to separate beforeeithinterview, yet kept that
information from the USCIS officer thatonducted the interview. ROP 66, 69. USCIS
characterized this as a “willful sriepresentation” that “must bekéan into account in evaluating
the evidentiary value of the other documents” that Cassell submitted to USCIS. ROP 66.
Likewise, prior to the second interview irugust 2009, Cassell submitted cell phone bills from
2007 through 2009 to USCIS, addressed to Caasdfloughadou’s South State Street condo.
ROP 129. In her response to the amended N@kxsell explained thdahese bills were not
submitted to mislead USCIS into thinking that tmiple continued to rede together, but were
submitted to demonstrate their continuednfdighip; Boughadou had apparently obtained a cell
phone for Cassell due to her paoedit. ROP 120. USCIS conclutlithat this gbmission was a

continued attempt to deceive USCIS. ROP 66.
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Addressing Cassell’'s argument in her resgoto the amended NOID that the affidavits
alone may provide enough positive evidence gian Cassell’s burden proof, USCIS agreed
that, as a general rule, positive evidence omercome negative evidence to clear the
preponderance standard, but codeld that there were too mahyaterial doubts” in Cassell’'s
case that Cassell failed to adetplprebut. ROP 70. In the endSCIS concluded that “[w]hile
the total positive evidence [Cassell] presentedoisnegligible, it does not ultimately outweigh
the derogatory evidence,” and therefore ddrCassell’s 1-130 ga petition. ROP 70.

After Cassell timely appealed @&’s decision, the BIA conductedda novoreview of
Cassell's petition. ROP 4. Summarizing thg lkexidence relied on by USCIS — namely, the
invalidity of the lease, the insufficient supptot the contention that Cassell’'s daughter required
special services that prevented them frmiving in with Boughadou, the evidence suggesting
that the couple intended to separate prior ta timst interview (and their failure to divulge this
fact at the interview), the bills submitted to USCIS for accounts listed only in Boughadou’s
name, and the brief period of time prior to tloeigle’s first interview in which their joint bank
account was open — the BIA concluded that itevfiCassell] submitted some evidence of the
bona fides of her marriage, there was no substatd@mentary support of a joint life together
with [Boughadou].” ROP 5. The BIA concluddidat USCIS properly @plied the burden of
proof and agreed with USCIS’s conclusioratthhe evidence submitted failed to demonstrate
“the bona fides of [Cassell's] relationship wifBoughadou]” and that “the lack of evidence
preclude[d] [Cassell] bm meeting her burden of proof.” ROP 5.

On December 7, 2012, Cassell and Boughadod fite complaint in this case, arguing
that USCIS’s and the BIA’s aéal of Cassell's petition wsa arbitrary and capricious, not

supported by substantial evidence, and otherwise contrary to law. Specifically, they claim that
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USCIS and the BIA “arbitrarily ignored prabive evidence” and based their decisions on
“immaterial considerations” and on evidence thatdsin the record (specifically, the landlord’s
statements that the St. James apartment leasevadisl). According tdPlaintiffs, the decisions
were based on “mere suspicion of fraud ratim on substantial and probative evidence of
fraud,” which Plaintiffs argue irequired. In Defendants’ sumary judgment motion, they argue
that the record supports the BkAdecision as a matter of lawn Plaintiff's cross-motion for
summary judgment, Cassell and Boughadou expound upon the arguments in their complaint and
ask that the Court reverse the BIA’s decision aather than remandéicase, order Defendants
to grant Cassell’s 1-130 petition.
. Summary Judgment Standard

This case involves a challenge to a firmgency action undethe Administrative
Procedure Act (“APA”) that the parties agresvolves judicial review of the Certified
Administration Record of Proceedings (“ROP”). See [11]. “Judicial review of an agency’s final
determination follows standards quite differeinom those applied in a typical summary
judgment proceeding."J.N. Moser Trucking, Ino.. U.S. Dept. of Laboi306 F. Supp. 2d 774,
781 (N.D. Ill. 2004). 5 U.S.C. 8§ 706 “sets ouethtandards that courts must follow when
reviewing federal agency action unless aeotstatute clearly requires otherwisdd. (citing
Dickinson v. Zurkp527 U.S. 150, 154-55 (1999)). Whenriesving an agencwyction under the
APA, the Court’s review is limited to the administrative record on which the agency based its
decision. See 5 U.S.C. § 7Q6ttle Co. of Mary Hosp. v. Sebelius87 F.3d 849, 856 (7th Cir.
2009).

Relevant here, Section 706 ingttsithat: “[tlhe revewing court shall: . . hold unlawful

and set aside agency action, findings, and cormisdiound to be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse
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of discretion, or otherwise not in accordancéhwaw.” 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(a). To determine
whether an agency’s decision was arbitrary andicaps, district courtsnust decide whether
the agency “examine[d] the relevant data amticulate[d] a satisfactory explanation for its
action including a rationalomnection between the factsuhd and the choice madelhdiana
Forest Alliance, Incv. U.S. Forest Servicg25 F.3d 851, 859 (7tGir. 2003) (quotingViotor
Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins.,@63 U.S. 29, 43 (1983)). In cases where
the court is asked to set aside an agency actidhe ground that it wagbitrary and capricious,
the “standard of review, established by the Aaistrative Procedure Acts a narrow, highly
deferential one.”Bagdonas v. Dept. of Treasui§3 F.3d 422, 425 (7th Cir. 1996). “[A]lthough
the Court is to uphold a decisionlets than ideal clarity if thegency’s path may be reasonably
discerned, it may not supply a reasoned basishidragency’s action thalhe agency itself has
not given.” Id. at 426. “The district court must conerdthe agency action valid as long as it
appears from the administrative record ti&t decision was supported by a rational basid.”

at 425-26 (internal citation omitted)[T]he scope of review . . . is narrow and the court is not to
substitute its judgment fdhat of the agency.’"Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass\463 U.S. at 43. “It's
not enough that [the court] might have reachatifferent conclusion; stong as a reasonable
mind could find adequate support fime decision, it must stand.Ogbolumani v. Napolitano
557 F.3d 729, 733 (7th Cir. 2009). “Normally, areagy rule would be arbitrary and capricious
if the agency has relied on factors which Conghessnot intended it taoosider, entirely failed
to consider an important aspe&dtthe problem, offered an expktion for its decision that runs
counter to the evidence before the agency, or imptausible that it codl not be ascribed to a
difference in view or the product of agency expertiskldtor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n463 U.S. at

43.
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IIl.  Discussion

Plaintiffs’ make three arguments in support oéithcontention that the decisions of
USCIS and the BIA were arbitragnd capricious. First, theyaqre that the agencies employed
the wrong standard of proof in arriving at theonclusion, erroneously requiring Cassell to
prove a bona fide marriage by either clear emavincing evidence or lgend a reasonable doubt
rather than by a preponderancela evidence. Second, they argligt the agenes’ suspicions
of fraud unfairly influenced theievaluation of the evidence; Riéiffs contend that to deny a
petition on the basis of fraud, the agencies nsugiport their conclusiowith substantial and
probative evidence. Finally, thaygue that by considering the landlord’s statement that the joint
lease was invalid, the agencies improperly refireévidence that does not exist in the record.

A. Burden of Proof

The parties agree that for Cassell to abtapproval of her 1-130 petition, she had to
prove by a preponderance of the evidenca $he and Boughadou married because they
intended to share a lifegether at the time they were married. 8eBrantigan 11 1. & N 493
(BIA 1966); Matter of Sorianp19 I. & N 764,765 (BIA 1988);Matter of Soo Hopll I. & N
151, 152 (BIA 1965). The parties also agthat Cassell's and Boughadou’s conduct after
marriage is relevant to the question of their ntitms at the time they were married, and that

separation or divorce — by itself — is not enotmbupport a finding that a marriage was not bona

! As a threshold matter, the Court rejects thevénment’s argument that Boughadou does not have
standing to challenge the denial of Cassell's I-13@ipe. “5 U.S.C. § 702 gives any person ‘suffering
legal wrong because of agency action, or adversedgtaffl or aggrieved by an agency action within the
meaning of a relevant statute’ the right to sksgleral court review of the agency actioGhaly v. I.N.S.

48 F.3d 1426, 1434 n.6 (7th Cir. 1995); see dlateez v. Dorochaf2007 WL 4300582 at *1 n.1 (N.D.

Ill. Nov. 30, 2007) (citing_ujan v. Defenders of Wildlife&s04 U.. 555, 560-61 (1992), which held that a
plaintiff has Article Ill standing if he has suffered antual injury that is traceable to the challenged
conduct and is likely to be redressed by a decision in his favor). Boughadou’'s immigration status is
implicated by the agencies’ denial of Cassell’'s patitiand thus he has sting to challenge USCIS’s

and the BIA’s decisions in federal court.
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fide when it was entered. Skmtter of McKeel7 I. & N 332, 333 (BIA 1980). “Of course, the
time and extent of separation, combined with other facts and circumstances, can and have
adequately supported the conclusion thatarriage was not bona fideld.

Plaintiffs argue that, although USCIS and Bi& decisions specifically cite and purport
to apply the preponderance standard to Casselisope the result — in th face of the evidence
presented — compels the conctusithat both agencies actualgld Cassell to a much higher
burden of proof. In effect, Plaintiffs ask the@t to reexamine the evidence in the record, make
its own determination that Cassell proved@na fide marriage by a preponderance of the
evidence, and back into the conclusion tH&CIS and the BIA must have applied a higher
burden of proof to Cassell’s figion. But in reviewing whethethe decision of USCIS or the
BIA was arbitrary and capricious, the “Court is eatpowered to substitute its judgment for that
of the agency.”Bowman v. Transp., Inc. v. Arkansas-Best Freigh Sys,,446.U.S. 281, 285
(1974). Instead, the Court’s taski@sensure that the agenciesigieed the evidence, arrived at a
rational conclusion in light ahe applicable burden of proatnd articulated its reasoning.

Here, both USCIS and the BIA explicitipoted that they were employing the
preponderance standard. USCIS identified what it considered to be the most compelling
documents in the case. Over the coursesigfsingle-spaced pages, USCIS analyzed the
evidence (or lack thereof) and provided ratlesafor its conclusions. Ultimately, USCIS
concluded (and the BIA affirmedhat there was too little documentation of cohabitation and
shared financial responsibility, coupled witbo much implausibility in (and a lack of
documentary corroboration for) the couple’s exptons to conclude that Cassell met her

burden by a preponderance of the evidence. In other words, there was simply too much
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“material doubt[]” and “that douldted] [USCIS] to believe [Cas#&s] claim [was] probably not
true.” ROP 70.

In her response to the amended NOID, Casis&dd the various docuemts that typically
are considered in determining whether atpeter has met her burden of proving the couple’s
intent to establish a life together at theme of marriage. RORS82 at n.1. These include
documentation showing joint ownership of proped lease showing joint tenancy of a common
residence, documentation shogi commingling of financial reswoces, birth certificates of
children born to the petitioner and beneficianyd affidavits of thirdparties having knowledge
of the bona fides of the martie¢lationship. ROP 181; see aBdC.F.R. § 204.2(a)(1)(iii)(B)..
These are precisely the types of documen&t thSCIS and the BIA expected and (where
submitted) scrutinized in arriving at their decisions.

Plaintiffs complain that the agencies “disregarded” much of this evidence, which — in
light of the agencies’ explicitomsideration of them — seems to be a complaint about the weight
that the agencies attached to the evidenceerdhltan a complaint that the evidence was not
considered at all. For example, Plaintiffs arthe the BIA “disregardethost of the utility bills
Ms. Cassell and Mr. Boughadou provided because the accounts were in Mr. Boughadou’s name
but not Ms. Cassell's. And it sliegarded their joint bank accourgcause it was only for only a
short time.” PI. Cross-Mot. SJ [23], at 6. Implicit in Plaintiffs’ argument is the contention that
USCIS and the BIA were not free find certain pieces of evidea more compelling than others
or weigh favorable evidence against unfavorafme contradictory) evidence in determining
whether Cassell had met her burden. But thptasisely the job of the agencies in determining
whether a petitioner has put forth enough evidenceet@ntitled to the imigration relief or

benefits sought.
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Similarly, Plaintiffs take issue with the agencies’ treatment of the affidavits that Cassell
provided, arguing that “[tjhey were treated as a lefgen of evidence,” (Pl. Cross-Mot. SJ [23],
at 4), and given little weight because they were from interested pddie#.5. But again, there
is nothing arbitrary orcapricious in giving again types of evidence momgeight than others.
These third-party affidavits were from Cassell’'s mother (who admitted that she did not interact
with Boughadou much, because she “lived veryffam [him] and [she] did not have a car)
(ROP 202), Boughadou’s parents (who lived in Algeria, never metellaand mostly described
phone conversations they had had with tkem regarding Cassell[ROP 205-06, 211-13) and
several of Boughadou’s friends who, based on limitégraction with the couple, declared their
respective beliefs that Cassell and Boughadou ewhfor love and not to evade immigration
laws. See ROP 161-65 (including an affiddvom Boughadou’s friend from Houston, Texas
who “got to go out to diners and/or attend kural events” with thecouple when he visited
Chicago and, observed that “[t]lnelationship between Rafik athdrea appeared to be based
on mutual respect and care between the twt@JECIS specifically acknowledged that positive
affidavit evidence can sustain a petitioner'sdam of proof, even in the face of negative
evidence. ROP 70. However, USCIS and the BlArddateed that the affidats provided in this
particular case were not enough to overconeerthmerous pieces of evidence that cut against
Cassell’s claim of a bona fide marriage. ROP 5, 70.

Plaintiffs also complain that USCIS and tBEA failed to “explain that the affiants were
untruthful or not credible.” PIl. Cross-Mot. SB[2at 5. But the SevemCircuit has made clear
that the agencies were not required to doBeen if “USCIS [and the BIA] could have fleshed
out why it found each piece of . evidence unpersuasive . . hgt Seventh Circuit has] never

required the agency to ‘write an exegesis on every contention raised.”"Odbedumani v.
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Napolitang 557 F.3d 729, 734-35 (7th Cir. 2009) (quotRgshiah v. Ashcrqf888 F.3d 1126,
1130 (7th Cir. 2004)). Instead, “USCIS [and th&Bheed only ‘announceljeir] decision[s] in
terms sufficient to enable a rewing court to perceive that ltas heard and thought and not
merely reacted.” Ogbolumanj 557 F.3d at 735 (quotingashiah 388 F.3d at 1130-31). The
Court is convinced that the BIA has done that here.

In the end, Plaintiffs arguments fall far shoftconvincing the Court that either USCIS or
the BIA applied an elevated burden of proofit merely reflect Plaintiffs’ disagreement and
disappointment with the agencievaluation of the evidence.

B. Evidence of Fraud

Plaintiffs contend that “defendants in this case staged a tactical retreat between their first
NOID and their amended NOID ardenial,” initially concludingthat Cassell “entered into a
sham marriage for the purpose of evading the immigration laws of the United States” but
ultimately backing away from that accusation &inding merely that CasBdailed to meet her
burden of establishing a bona fidemeage. Pl. Cross-Mot. SJ [23t 5. Plaintiffs argue that,
because the government suspected that CassklBoughadou entered into a sham marriage, it
was required to support its suspicion with “substantial and probative evidence” before it could
deny Cassell's petition on thditasis. Plaintiffs, howeveloth misstate the basis for the
agencies’ denial of Cassell’s petition and m@&hend the applicablaw regarding fraudulent
marriages. Section 204(c) of the Immigratiand Nationality Acttitled “Limitation on
orphan petitions approved for single petition@rohibition against approval in cases of
marriages entered into in order to evade immignalaws; restriction on future entry of aliens
involved with marriage fraud,” states that ipens, like Cassell's, seeking immigration status

adjustments for spouses shall not be approved if:
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(1) the alien has previously been accorded, or has sought to be accorded, an
immediate relative or preference staissthe spouse of a citizen of the United
States or the spouse of an alien lawfully admitted for permanent residence, by
reason of a marriage determined by the Attorney General to have been entered
into for the purpose of evad the immigration laws, or

(2) the Attorney General has determinedtttine alien has attgted or conspired
to enter into a marriage for the pusgecof evading the immigration laws.

8 U.S.C. 8§ 1154(c). 8 C.F.R. § 204.2(a)(1)(it)ed “Fraudulent marriag prohibition,” reads:

Section 204(c) of the Act prohibits the apyal of a visa petibn filed on behalf

of an alien who has attempted or qonsd to enter into a marriage for the

purpose of evading the immigration lawkhe director will deny a petition for

immigrant visa classification filed on balf of any alien for whom there is

substantial and probative evidence of sanhattempt or conspiracy, regardless of

whether that alien received a benefibtigh the attempt or conspiracy. Although

it is not necessary that the alien have beanvicted of, or een prosecuted for,

the attempt or conspiracy, the evidencetltg attempt or conspiracy must be

contained in the alien’s file.
8 C.F.R. 8 204.2(a)(2)(ii). In lér words, if USCIS and/or the BIA conclude that there is
“substantial and probative” evidentteat a marriage was enteredbirfior the purpose of evading
the immigration laws, the agency must deny theipaton that basis. And denial on that basis
will have severe and lasting consequences gfmngard if one of the parties to the marriage
marries again and files a subsequent petition. Es¢¢@. Thompsan/40 F.3d 118, 124 (3d Cir.
2014) (noting that when the BIA supports a deteation that an aliesought immediate relative
status on the basis of a marriage entered swiely to obtain immigration benefits with
substantial and probative eeidce, 8 U.S.C. § 1154(c) servas a statutory bar against
subsequent petitions, including those mademsting from bona fide marriages); see also
Zemeka v. Holder2013 WL 6085633 at *2 (D.D.C. Nov. 22013) (noting that 8 U.S.C. § 1154
“prohibits approval of any I-13(petition filed on behalf ofan alien beneficiary who has

previously been accorded, or has sought to berdedpimmediate-relative status on the basis of

a fraudulent marriage,” even where tlhdsequent marriage appears bona fide).
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Contrary to Plaintiffs’ sugggion, 8 C.F.R. § 204.2(a)(1)(ionly requires an agency to
support a fraudulent marriage determination wstibstantial and probee evidence if the
agency denies the 1-130 petition on that basisat Tetermination is separate and distinct from
the agencies’ determination regarding whetther petitioner has sustead his/her burden or
establishing a bona fide marriage. Brown v. Napolitanpthe Fifth Circuit reviewed a district
court’s grant of summary judgment in favortbeé government on appeabm USCIS’s denial
of the plaintiff's 1-130 petition. 391 Fed. App246 (5th Cir. 2010). The district court found
that substantial evidence suppdridSCIS’s conclusions (and tiBA’s affirmance without an
opinion) that (1) the petitioners failed toope a bona fide marriage by a preponderance of the
evidence, and (2) the Governmiesucceeded in proving thatn“the alternativé (id. at 347
(emphasis added)), petitioners “had entered tinéir marriage solely to obtain an immigration
benefit for [the alien petitioner], rendering it a “sham” marriagkl’ at 349. In affirming the
district court’s grant of summary judgment, thiéth Circuit explained that the petitioners had
the burden “to show, by a preponderance of theeend, that ‘they intendeto establish a life
together at the time of their marriageld. at 350 (quotingvatter of Pazandehl9 | & N Dec.
884, 887 (BIA 1989)). But as to USCIS’s aitative basis for denying the petition, the
Government had the burden of showing “by sultsthand probative evehce” that petitioner’s
marriage was a sham from its inceptidil. at 351. As the Fifth @uit made clear, these are
separate and alternative grouoisdenying the 1-130 petitionld. at 349.

In Cassell’'s and Boughadou’s case, US@I& not conclude that their marriage was
fraudulent. The Government did initiallgccuse Cassell and Boughadou of having a sham
marriage in the NOID after their second intewie where USCIS learde among other things,

that the couple separated just weeks after fhistrinterview and that Cassell had since had two

21



children (and lived) with another man, despiémaining married to Boughadou. See ROP 324
(*Your actions show that you were a willing pagpant in any attempt by your spouse to defraud
the United States Government.”). But after g@viCassell an opportunitg rebut that accusation

— in response to which she submitted a joint mwataile insurance policylife insurance policies
for both Cassell and Boughadou naming the othex bseneficiary, and affavits from family
and friends — the Government backed away ftbat position in its amended NOID. See ROP
133 (noting that the affidavits “constitute posijbut not overwhelming, corroborative evidence
for the bona fides of your marriage” but that “thare significant incondiencies in the record
which affect the credibility of the statementglaevidence [Cassell] presented.”). Ultimately, the
Government did not prove (and USCIS did nonhclude) that Cassell and Boughadou entered
into a sham marriage. Instead, USCIS determined that “the total positive evidence [Cassell]
presented . . . [did] not ultimately outweigh theadgtory evidence” and that Cassell “failed to
meet [her] burden of proving that [her] margagas bona fide from its inception.” ROP. 70.

In other words, the Government had nodaur of proof because USCIS did not deny
Cassell’'s petition on the basié a sham marriage. USCl®nrcluded that certain documents
(such as the invalid ése) were misleading, and USCI&k that into consideration when
making credibility findings, but that did not shifie burden from Cassell tbe Government. At
all times, Cassell had the burden to proveoma fide marriage by a preponderance of the
evidence, and USCIS deniedr lpetition after concluding thahe failed in that regard.

C. Evidence Not in the Record

Plaintiffs argue that thewere unfairly prejudiced by USSIland the BIA’s reliance on
Boughadou’s landlord’s statement that the leaseGhasell signed was invalid. Plaintiffs cite to

three BIA cases from the 1970sdaan opinion from the Northeristrict of California for the
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unremarkable proposition that Cassell had a righewew and rebut thevidence relied on by

the agencies. They argue that the landlosfaement to a USCIS investigator was never
“substantiated” because “[t]here are no notes of the conversation by the USCIS officer involved
that are dated contemporaneouslyhvihe time it occurred.” PIl. Ré Br. Cross-Mot. SJ, at 2.

But the only Seventh Ciuit case on this point demonstratbat there was nothing wrong with
USCIS’s reliance on the statement.

In Ogbolumani v. Napolitandhe plaintiffs made a similargument, challenging the fact
that “USCIS relied not on sworn statements bgtifpner’s sister-in-law who claimed that the
petitioner’s first marriage was a sham], but [@ammaries of what [she] had said, written by
USCIS investigators.” 557 F.3d 729, 734 (7thr. A009). The Seventh Circuit, however,
rejected the plaintiffs’ argument, noting tHathile sworn statementsvould have bolstered
USCIS’s case, they are not, as [plaintiffs] argegquired.” The Court degbed “[the plaintiffs]
dissatisfaction with the summariss] a hearsay objection of soHsn essence [plaintiffs] argue
that, to ensure the reliability of such damaginglence, the statements must come straight from
the horse’s mouth. But even nemoval proceedings, hearsay is admissible so long as it's
probative and its use is n@indamentally unfair.” Id. Because the pldiffs “point[ed] to
nothing that suggest[ed] that the summaries ¢varaccurate or unreliable beyond the general
‘inherent risks’ that come withising a synopsis and suspiciposgrounded in # record, that
[the withess who made the statmt] lied out of spite,” the $enth Circuit determined that
there was not enough to call the USCIS investigs report containing the statement into
guestion.Id.

Here, as inOgbolumanj Boughadou’s landlord’s statement is contained in a USCIS

investigator’s report. ROP 37. Specificaliyyestigator Sean O’Reilly wrote: “Boughadou and
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Cassell submitted a lease agreement (dated September 8, 2004) for [the St. James apartment].
The said lease contained signatures for BoughasouCassell. USCIS lbed the real estate
management company to verifhe authenticity of said leas The management company
informed USCIS that the said lease (datedt&mber 8, 2004) was NOT valid because Cassell
refused the management company’s prerequisiedit check.” The management company
informed USCIS that only Boughadou’'s namgp@ars on the lease for the time period in
qguestion.” Id. Although, as the Seventh Circuit recognized, such a statement imposes “inherent
risks,” those concerns speak tize weight of the evidence, ntd the admissibility of the
statement. USCIS was free to consider thestigator's summary alongith all of the other
evidence before it.

The Court rejects Plaintiffs’ argument th@thout better documentation (such as a sworn
statement from the management company) theg weevented from rebutting this statement in
violation of 8 C.F.R. § 103.2(b)(16)Mhich states that “[i]f the decn will be adverse to the . ..
petitioner and is based on derogatory information . . . of which the petitioner is unaware, he/she
shall be advised of this fact and offered @pportunity to rebut thénformation and present
information in his/her own behalf before the demisis rendered.” Platiffs were offered two
opportunities to rebut this sehent, in response to bothe NOID and amended NOID, yet
failed to do so. Regardless of whether #tatement was contained in a USCIS officer’s
summary or in a stand-alone daetion, Plaintiffs could have lvatted the evidence in the same
way. If the lease truly was valid and the nggraent company was mistaken in reporting to
USCIS that Cassell refused a credit check, Qlassald have obtained a statement of her own
from the management company, rebutting the stigator's summary. Nothing prevented her

from doing that. Instead, Cassell's only attemptetout the statement was to include a line in
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her affidavit that read: “I doot know why the management caamy might now say the lease |
signed was invalid.” (ROP 135). USCIS considdted affidavit, but found it to be insufficient
to rebut the landlord’s atement. (ROP 68).

In Plaintiffs’ Citation of Supplemeal Authority [28],they argue tha®ouhova v. Holder
726 F.3d 1007 (7th Cir. 2013), comp#éte Court to remand Casselpgtition on thisbasis. In
Pouhova the plaintiff entered the Wed States on a student visaarried a U.S. citizen, and
applied for an adjustment of status. 726 RRBHO09. Instead of granting her petition, however,
the Government initiated removal proceedings to determine whether Pouhova should be removed
from the United States for assisting dieratrying to enter the country illegallyld. At her
removal hearing, the Government presentedtyustpieces of evidence in support of the charge,
both reports by an immigration official at I@are Airport who had prevented a woman named
Boriana Dimova from entering the countwth Pouhova’s Bulgarian passpottl. According to
the reports, Dimova told the imgration official atO’Hare (without a traslator) that Pouhova
had given her the passport to try to enkee United States in exchange for $1,500. At her
hearing, Pouhova denied knowing Dimova andifted that she had lost her passport years
earlier. Id. at 1010. But the immigrath judge credited the Government’s documents and found
that the Government had proven that Pouhova assisted in smuggling an alien into the United
States, rendering Pouhova subjeataimoval (even in spite of her marriage to a U.S. citizéh).
at 1010. The BIA affirmedld. at 1011. Reviewing the decisidhge Seventh Circuit concluded
that because this wdke Government’s only &ence and because Pouhova had no ability to
examine Dimova (who had been removed to Bu&) or the immigration officer who took the
statement at the hearing, she was deprived optweedural rights and this violation prejudiced

her. Id. at 1011-12.
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Cassell's case is distinguishable fr®fmuhovain several material ways. First, Pouhova
had no meaningful way to rebut the Governmergfsort, because Dimova had been deported to
Bulgaria. Here, as discussed, Cdssas not deprived of an oppartity to rebut tle evidence in
any meaningful way.Second, the reports PPouhovawere the Government@nly evidence and
served as the sole basis for the immigratigdgg’s decision that Pouh@assisted in smuggling
an alien into the United States. In Cassalbse, the landlord’s se@ahent was one of many
pieces of evidence that USCIS weighed in determining whether Cassell met her burden of proof.
Finally, in Pouhova’s case, the repaas direct evidence of theolation. By contrast, Cassell
and Boughadou admitted that Cassekdivn Berwyn and only stayed at the St. James apartment
on a limited basis, so the invalyl of the lease did not fundamaeliy alter the teality of the
evidence concerning theuple’s cohabitation.

For these reasons, Cassell's case better fits the mol@gbblumani in which the
Seventh Circuit determined that USCISteliance in denying an 1-130 petition on an
investigator's summary of aitmess’s statement was not “fundamentally unfair.” 557 F.3d at
734.

D. Arbitrary and Capricious

In the end, all of Plaintiffs’ arguments that USCIS must v@& employed the wrong
burden of proof in arriving its désion, that the Government dmbt prove that the marriage was
a sham, and that USCIS assigned too muchiweédiga statement by Bghadou’s landlord — are,
at bottom, gripes about thetiotate result that USCIS reache But under the arbitrary and
capricious standard, the Court’s task is tewra that USCIS and the BIA “examine[d] the
relevant data and articulate[d] a satisfacterplanation for its action including a rational

connection between the fadmund and the choice madelhdiana Forest Alliane, Inc. v. U.S.
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Forest Service325 F.3d 851, 859 (7th Cir. 2003) (quotiNigptor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n v. State
Farm Mut. Auto Ins. C0463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983)). Under tiighly deferential standard, “so
long as a reasonable mind couidd adequate support for th@ecision, it must stand.”
Ogbolumani v. Napolitand57 F.3d 729, 733 (7th Cir. 2009). \Hag examined the evidence in
the record, the Court concludes that a ratiammnection exists between the facts found by
USCIS and its denial of Cassell's petition. BWSCIS recognized, Cadbkdid put forth some
positive evidence of a bona fide marriage (whicpressumably why the Government ultimately
backed away from its initial acsations of fraud), but in light ahe totality of the evidence
before the agency, a reasonable decision medeainly could find adequate support for the
agencies’ decision to deny Cassell’s petition.

Cassell and Boughadou met randomly in a Mic&ld’s in June 2004. They married two
months later and Cassell applied to adjustidggadou’s immigration status the next month. ROP
65 (USCIS Decision on Petition for Alien RelajvMay 2, 2011). Plaintiffs maintained
different residences in differenities and never lived togethidl-time, even by Plaintiff's own
affidavits. ROP 65. Cassell alaed that she and her daughteuld not move to Chicago and
live with Boughadou because her daughter wasiviece“special services” at her school, but
Cassell never produced documemtatio support that claim. ROP 65, 67. Cassell claimed that
Boughadou could not move to Berwyn, lllinois toeliwith Cassell, because of fear of Cassell's
ex-boyfriend (reasoning that USCIS found unpessigg. ROP 66-68. The couple submitted a
joint lease, but after USCIS’s investigation rakesl that the lease was invalid, USCIS concluded
that the document failed to demonstrate joimiaficial responsibility {(sce Cassell was not
legally bound by the lease). ROP 65, 68. IilAp005, Plaintiffs interviewed with a USCIS

officer but separated just weelater. ROP 66Moreover, Boughadou haalirchased a condo at
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the time of the intervie that Cassell knew nothing about(guggesting to USCIS that they
already planned to separa@m)d that Boughadou kept a secietm the interviewing USCIS
officer (who only discovered this through posteirview investigation) ROP 66. Cassell and
Boughadou remained legally madjebut she moved in with ariwr man and had two children
with him. Prior to her second interview2009, Cassell submitted additional evidence to USCIS
in support of her petition, inetling mail that was addresstxiboth Cassell and Boughadou at
Boughadou’s South State Street condo. ROP 688CIS considered this submission to be an
attempt to deceive USCIS inteelieving that the couple livedgether at the condo. ROP 69.
Based on this derogatory evidence, USCIS hkaied that Cassell’'s claim to a bona fide
marriage was “probably not true” and therefoeeided that she had not met her burden of proof
by a preponderance of the evidence.

In light of the evidence, the Court cannog fiaat USCIS did not have a rational basis for
its decision. Although the Court found no factuallyalogous cases in tise=venth Circuit, the
Fifth Circuit's decision inBrown v. Napolitanolends considerablsupport for the Court’s
conclusion here. See 391 Fégpx. 346 (5th Cir. 2010). IBrown, a couple met in June 2003,
were engaged by September, and married in Novemdbeat 347. They filed an 1-130 petition
the next month (December) and had their first USCIS interview in Jdly.In support of their
marriage, the couple produced records fronpiat checking accounfrom February 2005
through June 2005 (reflecting just a few transaxgtia month) and their 2004 joint tax retutd.
at 348. They submitted a joint lease, but admitted to only seeing each other every 2-3aveeks.
They also provided a joint utility bill, joint furniture purchases, photographs, and affidavits from
themselves and from familyld. However, USCIS took issue withe facts that the couple did

not live together full-time (the woman apparentigved out of their apartment after the death of
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her father) and “that there existed little to nadewnce that [the coupldjad commingled their
assets.”Id. The district court granted summary judgmin favor of theGovernment, after the
plaintiffs appealed USCIS’s denial of their pien for failure to prove a bona fide marriage by a
preponderance of the eviden On appeal, the HiftCircuit noted that “[t) obtain a reversal of
the USCIS’s decision, [the pliffs] bear the burden ofhswing that the evidence they
presented was so compelling that no reasondébiefinder could fail to arrive at their
conclusion,” and affirmed thaistrict court’s decisionld. at 350 (internal ¢ation omitted).

In the end, Plaintiffs have not convince@ tGourt that the decision of either USCIS or
the BIA was arbitrary and capricious. The ages employed the appropriate burden of proof,
afforded Cassell multiple opportunities to relthe derogatory evidence in the record, and
ultimately arrived at a decision that — thoudisappointing to Plaintiffs — was based on a
reasonable and rational connection to the faCsrtainly this record does not permit the Court
to conclude that USCIS or the BIA “relied dactors which Congress has not intended it to
consider, entirely failed to consider an importaspect of the problem, offered an explanation
for its decision that runs counter to the evidebetore the agency, or is so implausible that it
could not be ascribed todifference in view or the pduct of agency expertise Motor Vehicle
Mfrs. Ass'n 463 U.S. at 43. Accordingly, the deoiss of USCIS and the BIA must stand.

V.  Conclusion
For the reasons stated above, the Courttgfaafendants’ motiofor summary judgment

[17] and denies Plaintiff’'s crgsmotion for summary judgment.
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Dated: March 31, 2014 ‘2;458 ;//

RoberM. Dow, Jr&”
UnitedState<District Judge
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